
CORPORATION OF THE 

TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 

 

AGENDA 

May 17th, 2021 7:30 p.m.            Electronic Meeting  

   

 

1. OPEN 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA         

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST        

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES  

a) May 4, 2021 Regular Council 

Meeting 

5. DELEGATIONS             

               

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS  

a)   Museum Committee Report 

 

7. OLD BUSINESS     

a) Main Street Construction Update 

b) Small Craft Basin and Aus Hunt 

Marina Update  

   

8. NEW BUSINESS  

a) COVID-19 Update 

b) Salary Grid- Museum Curator 

c) Manitoulin Planning Board – 

Budget Approval 

d) Letter to Mayor and Council re: 

Storage container bylaw 

exemption 
e) Healthy Communities Initiative 

Decision 
f) 2021 Senior of the Year Award 

 

9. CORRESPONDANCE 

 

10. INFORMATION 

a) Economic Development 

Committee Minutes April 14, 

2021 

b) Museum Minutes May 3, 2021 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 



 

12. CLOSED SESSION    

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT       



 

 

Memorandum 
To:   Mayor, Council  

cc:    Staff, Public 

From:  Staff 

Date:   May 14, 2021 
 

RE:   May 17, 2021 Council Meeting 

6. Committee Reports 

 

a) Museum Committee Report 

 

Report presented by Michael Hunt 

 

7. Old Business 

 

a) Main Street Construction Update 

 

• The project is still proceeding ahead of schedule. 
• We expect the contamination excavation in the vicinity of the Post Office and Anglican Church will 

be initiated in the near future. We are still awaiting final costing estimates based on two 

alternative methods. 

• When the schedule for this work is established, Gratton Construction and the Township will be 

issuing advanced notice and detour information. Although the final details are yet to be 

determined, and residents/road-users should rely on the actual notices/signage, once 

established, for the most up-to-date info, the preliminary details are as follows: 

1. Main St. will be closed – no through traffic in either direction - in the area of the Havelock 

Hotel, Post Office and Anglican Church. 

2. This closure will be as short as possible. We cannot give a firm timeframe at this time, but 

I expect it to be a matter of days – i.e., less than a week. 

3. People will still be able to safely access the Post Office, although they may have to walk 

slightly farther. 

4. Notification will be issued by web site, social media, the business distribution list, and 

with physical (paper) notices.  

5. Road closed signs and detour signs will be posted: 

a. Close to the intersection of Main St. and Hwy 540 for Northbound (into Kagawong 

and for accessing Maple Point, etc.) traffic.  

i. This signage will indicate Upper St. as the detour route for vehicles 

proceeding through the village to Maple Ridge, Maple Point, etc. 

b. Before (North side) of Beach St., which meets Main St. at the water system low-lift 

station. 

i. This signage will indicate Beach St. as an alternative for small vehicles 

(cars & pick-ups) that are proceeding to Hwy 540, AND Upper St. as detour 

routes. 

6. Road users will need to exercise patience and extra caution when using the Upper Street 

detour. It is a 1.5 lane residential street with normally low traffic volumes. 

• Many more of the storm-drainage structures have been placed, and this work is proceeding 

rapidly. 

• The escarpment work, storm drainage and subbase excavation has not required any blasting to-

date, and it is looking like no blasting will be required. This is an unexpected and welcome 

development. 

• Work has been started on the engineered retaining wall at the lighthouse. 



 

 

• We are still awaiting one pole relocation on the part of Hydro One and Bell. Hopefully this will be 

accomplished soon, as this represents one threat to the ahead-of-schedule status of the project. 

 

As always, the EDO is available to answer questions on the project progress. 

 

b) Small Craft Basin and Aus Hunt Marina Update 

 

The issues at the SCB have been resolved with the assistance of PWs. There is a plan to have 

remedial repairs completed on the Aus Hunt Marina in the next couple of weeks. We expect both 

facilities to be in operation by the end of May, subject to pandemic restrictions and realities at that 

time. 

8. New Business 

 

a) COVID 19 Update 

 

Council to review documents in the package as sent by Megan Bonenfant, CEMC.  

 

b) Salary Grid- Museum Curator 

 

Recommendation: 

That by-law 2021-20, being a by-law to amend by-law 2021-08, being a by-law to update employee 

salary ranges, be given first, second and third readings and enacted, and 

 

That by-law 2021-08 Employee Salary Range Schedule A be amended to include the Museum Curator 

position being the same as the Marina Manager. 
 

c) Manitoulin Planning Board – Budget Approval 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council accepts the Manitoulin Planning Board 2021 budget as presented in their 

correspondence dated April 23, 2021 

 

d) Letter to Mayor and Council re: Storage container bylaw exemption 
 

Mr. McKeever has requested that he be allowed to put a storage container on his property located at 

11 Upper Street. 

The process for Mr. McKeever’s request is to request a zoning change (site-specific) to the Zoning By-

law from the Planning Board. The request would be reviewed at the Planning Board if there was 

municipal support for the application.  

The Planning Board then sends proper notification out to neighboring properties (as legislated) and a 

public meeting is scheduled. At the public meeting the public is allowed to make comments as to 

whether or not they support the installation of a storage container at the site. The public meeting is 

usually held a 7 p.m. before a 7:30 regular council meeting. 

At the next regular Council meeting, following the public meeting, Council would be presented with a 

draft bylaw to amend the Zoning By-Law to allow for a storage container to be located on the property. 

Except in this case there is a bit of a difference.  In 2011 the following resolution was passed: 

2011-224  Imrie – Hurcomb 



 

 

WHEREAS, following a review of the Township’s Zoning By-Law, Council has determined that 

Transport Trailers, Rail Box Cars and Sea Containers are not permitted uses anywhere within 

the Township, 

AND WHEREAS, anyone with a Transport Trailer, Rail Box Car or Sea Container can apply to 

the Manitoulin Planning Board for a Site-Specific Amendment to Billings Township Zoning By-

Law, 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council has determined that it is undesirable to 

allow Transport Trailers, Rail Box Cars and Sea Containers in areas zoned Hamlet, Hamlet 

Residential and Shoreline Residential, Council would oppose any Site-Specific requests in 

these zones. 

                                                                                                  Carried 

I cannot speak for Council as to why this resolution was passed, other than at the time containers 

were an issue all over Manitoulin and by omission (not contained in the Zoning by-law) containers are 

not permitted in Billings Township. 

Council has a few options: 

1. Council can take the resolution as it stands, so that an application from Mr. McKeever will not 

accepted by the Planning Board and Mr. McKeever will not be able to place a container on his 

property. 

2. Council can rescind the resolution made in 2011, so that anyone can apply for a site-specific 

zoning amendment to allow for a container, which may result in these containers in many 

locations, which is what the 2011 Council was trying to prevent. 

3. Council can make an exception in this case for Mr. McKeever and send notification to the 

Planning Board that they will support the zoning amendment (Site-specific) pending review of 

any responses that are received for or against the container.  This will establish precedent.  

e) Healthy Communities Initiative Decision 
 

Upon resolution 2021-87 Staff was directed by Council to apply to the Healthy Communities Initiative 

for a new outdoor rink. The application was not successful (please see attached correspondence). A 

second intake is now open and applications will be accepted until June 25th, 2021. Staff would like to 

do some research on the second intake and will provide an update at the next Regular Council 

meeting on June 1, 2021. 

 

f) 2021 Senior of the Year Award 
 

The deadline to submit nominations for the 2021 Senior of the Year is May 31, 2021. Council can 

determine how they would like to proceed with nominations.  

Council can also decide not to nominate someone for Senior of the Year and wait and do their own 

Volunteer of the Year nominations at a later date. 

 

10. Information 

 

Council may move any of these items to new business during the agenda approval for discussion at this 

meeting, or request that an item(s) be included on a future agenda for discussion. 

 

a) Economic Development Committee Minutes April 14, 2021 

b) Museum Minutes May 3, 2021 



The Corporation of the 

Township of Billings 

Regular Meeting 

 

May 4th, 2021 7:30 p.m.            Electronic Meeting    

 

Present: Mayor Anderson, Councillors Sharon Alkenbrack, Bryan Barker, Michael Hunt 

and Sharon Jackson 

Staff: Todd Gordon, Economic Development Officer; Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk; 

Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk; Megan Bonenfant, CEMC; Arthur Moran, By-Law Officer 

Media: Tom Sasvari 

Members of the General Public 

 

1. OPEN 

2021- 149 Barker - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this regular meeting of Council be opened with a 

quorum present at 7:30 p.m. with Mayor Anderson presiding. 

      Carried 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA    

 2021-150 Alkenbrack - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the agenda for the, 2021 regular meeting of Council be 

accepted as amended (defer item 8 (l) until the next regular council meeting.  

      Carried 

    

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST  

 

Councillor Sharon Alkenbrack made the following declaration: 

I, Councillor Sharon Alkenbrack, declare a potential direct pecuniary interest on 

Agenda item No. 8 h. Item Title: New Business – Marina Rental for the following 

reason: I will have product for sale there. 

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES   

 

a) April 15th, 2021 

2021-151 Hunt - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that the minutes of the April 15th, 2021 meeting be 

accepted as presented.   

     Carried 

 

b) April 19th, 2021 

2021-152 Barker - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the minutes of the April 19th, 2021 meeting be 

accepted as presented.   

      Carried 

 



c) April 27, 2021 

2021-153 Alkenbrack - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that the minutes of the April 27th, 2021 meeting be 

accepted as presented.   

Carried 

 

5. DELEGATIONS 

 None 

       

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

a) Economic Development Committee Report 

Council received report. 

 

b) Library Committee Report  

Council received report. 

 

c) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee Report 

Council received report.  

     

7. OLD BUSINESS 

 

a) OPP Detachment Boards 

2021-154 Barker - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council supports the appointment of a Billings 

Township representative for a Police Services Board. 

Carried 

 

b) Main Street Construction Update  

Council received report. 

             

8. NEW BUSINESS 

 

a) COVID 19 Update 

Megan Bonenfant, CEMC, presented Council with a COVID-19 update. 

 

b) Broadband Update 

Council received update from Todd Gordon, Economic Development Officer. 

 

c) Road Management on Invasive Phragmites  

2021-155 Jackson - Hunt 

WHEREAS Phragmites australis (Phragmites) is an invasive perennial grass 

that continues to cause severe damage to wetlands and beaches in areas 

around the Great Lakes; and 

 

WHEREAS Phragmites australis grows and spreads rapidly, allowing the 

plant to invade new areas and grow into large monoculture stands in a short 



amount of time, and is an allelopathic plant that secretes toxins from its roots 

into the soil which impede the growth of neighboring plant species; and 

 

WHEREAS Phragmites australis results in loss of biodiversity and species 

richness, loss of habitat, changes in hydrology due to its high metabolic rate, 

changes in nutrient cycling as it is slow to decompose, an increased fir hazard 

due to the combustibility of its dead stalks, and can have an adverse impact on 

agriculture, particularly in drainage ditches; and 

 

WHEREAS invasive Phragmites has been identified as Canada’s worst 

invasive plant species by Agriculture and Agrifood Canada; and 

 

WHEREAS the Ontario government has made it illegal to import, deposit, 

release, breed/grow, buy, sell, lease or trade invasive Phragmites under the 

Invasive Species Act; and 

 

WHEREAS volunteers, non-governmental organizations, and various 

municipalities have invested tens of thousands of dollars in investments and 

labour annually for more than eight years in executing managements plans to 

control invasive Phragmites on roads, coasts, shorelines and in wetlands; and 

 

WHEREAS roads and highways where Phragmites that are left untreated 

become spread vectors that continually risk new and treated wetlands and 

coastal shoreline areas; and 2 

 

WHEREAS according to “Smart Practices for the Control of Invasive 

Phragmites along Ontario’s Roads” by the Ontario Phragmites Working 

Group, best road management practices for Phragmites australis include early 

detection, and cutting; and 

 

WHEREAS these best management practices are most effective when used in 

a multi-pronged approach as opposed to when used as stand-alone control 

measures; and 

 

WHEREAS mother nature does not recognize political boundaries. 

Therefore, it is imperative that Municipalities, Districts, the Province, and the 

Federal government work together in collaboration to eradicate Canada’s 

worst invasive plant species Phragmites australis; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Council for the Township of 

Billings directs its staff to implement best management practices to promote 

early detection of invasive Phragmites, and to implement best management 

practices for invasive Phragmites, and to join the Ontario Phragmites Working 

Group to collaborate on the eradication of Phragmites in Ontario. 

 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Council for the Township of Billings 

directs staff to insert clean equipment protocols into tenders and that there is 

oversight that the protocols are followed; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Council for the Township of Billings 

requests the Ontario Ministry of Transportation to map and treat invasive 

Phragmites annually on all its highways; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Ontario Ministry of Transportation 

communicates the strategy on mapping (detecting sites) and controlling 

invasive Phragmites on provincial highways, the specific highway 

management plans and results by each MTO region and each highway in the 

region and work in coordination with the Township of Billings; and 

 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED that Council for the Township of Billings 

requests all levels of government to consider funding support to aid the 

Township of Billings in managing invasive phragmites; and directs staff to 

send a copy of this resolution to the Ontario Minister of Environment, 

Conservation and Parks and the Minister of Environment and Climate Change 

Canada. 

      Carried 

 

d) Community Safety and Wellbeing Plan 

2021-156 Alkenbrack - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the Township of Billings participate in a joint 

Community Safety and Wellbeing Plan and provide the necessary portion of 

funds for the township to do so.  

      Carried 

 

e) Manitoulin Island Cycling Association (MICA) E-Bike Rack and Charger 

2021-157 Alkenbrack - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council direct staff to seek more technical 

information from MICA regarding the charger installation and do more 

research to determine the preferred location. 

      Carried 

 

f) Aus Hunt Marina & Small Craft Basin 

Council received update from Todd Gordon, Economic Development Officer. 

 

g) Flywheel Art Submissions 

2021-158 Barker - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council direct staff to issue a Call to Artists - 

Request for Quote (RFQ) - for services in creating a new image on the 

flywheel at the Old Mill Heritage Centre/Municipal Office. 

      Carried 

 



h) Marina Rental 

2021-159 Jackson - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that the vacant portion of the Aus Hunt Marina be rented 

to Deb Flaxman for a fee of $225/month + HST with a completed and signed 

rental agreement on file. The hours of operation cannot exceed the normal 

operating hours of the Aus Hunt Marina and they cannot sell products that are 

available for sale at the marina. Insurance is required naming the Township of 

Billings as insured.  

      Carried 
 

i) Manitoulin Municipal Association (MMA) Stantec Support 

2021-160 Alkenbrack - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council support the Stantec Consulting study 

recommendation for a Little Current Swing Bridge west of the existing Swing 

Bridge and to circulate this resolution to the Minister of Transportation, 

Honorable Caroline Mulroney, MPP Michael Mantha, MP Carol Hughes, and 

to all the Manitoulin Municipality Association members. 

      Carried 

 

j) Parks, Recreation and Wellness Game Board Pieces Purchase 

2021-161 Barker - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council approves the purchase of a large LED set of 

game board pieces for the outdoor game board.  

      Carried 

 

k) Invitation from Minister Clark Re: Consultations to Strengthen 

Municipal Codes of Conduct 

2021-162 Jackson - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that Councillor Bryan Barker will participate in the June 

10th presentation regarding strengthening accountability for municipal council 

members. 

      Carried 

 

9.  CORRESPONDENCE 

 

a) Mary Buie RE: Garbage at Bridal Veil Falls 

Council received letter from Mary Buie. 

 

10. INFORMATION 

 

a) Manitoulin Planning Board 2021 Municipal Requisition for Funding 

Council received report. 

 

b) Manitoulin Island Cycling Advocates: Opening Seasonal Roadside 

Facilities 

Council received report. 

 



c) Norfolk County Letter of Support: the application of the carbon tax on 

primary agriculture producers 

Council received report. 

 

d) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee April 22, 2021 Minutes 

Council received report. 

 

e) Parks, Recreation & Wellness Committee April 26, 2021 Minutes 

Council received report. 

 

f) Branford- Request to Withdraw Prohibition of Golf 

Council received report. 

 

g) Climate Action Committee Meeting April 28, 2021 Minutes 

Council received report. 

 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 

2021-163 Alkenbrack - Barker 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council Authorizes the following accounts for 

payment: 

  General Accounts  $51,056.58 

and that cheques numbers 6714 to 6732 be authorized for signing as described in 

the attached register. 

      Carried 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION  

 

a) Identifiable Individual 

2021-164 Alkenbrack - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that in accordance with Section 239(2)(d) of the 

Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. Labour Relations or Employee Negotiations, this 

Council proceed to a Closed Session at 8:53 p.m. in order to discuss an item 

involving an identifiable individual.  

     Carried 

 

2021 – 166 Alkenbrack - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council adjourns from the closed session at 8:58 

p.m. and resumes the regular meeting. 

      Carried 

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

2021-167 Alkenbrack - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that By-law 2021-19, being a by-law to confirm the 

proceedings of Council be given first, second, third reading and enacted. 

      Carried 

 



14. ADJOURNMENT  

 2021-168 Barker - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this regular meeting of Council be adjourned at 9:00 

p.m. 

      Carried 

    

 

    

   





Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 1 of 11 

 

Public Health Sudbury & Districts 

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) 

Epidemiology Update 

These data are based on information available from Public Health Sudbury & Districts as of 4:00 PM May 09, 2021, unless 
otherwise specified. 

Highlights 

As of the time of reporting, among residents of the Public Health Sudbury & Districts service area, there have been: 

•    2,011 cases of COVID-19. 

○    850 (42.3%) of these cases have tested positive for a COVID-19 variant of concern (VOC). 

○    As of November 24, 2020, unless otherwise specified, case counts include laboratory confirmed cases as well as 

probable cases as defined by the Ontario Ministry of Health (probable case definition [PDF]), except for individuals 

who have a preliminary positive result from a point-of-care test and for whom laboratory confirmation is required. 

•    28 deaths. 

○    The case fatality rate is 1.4% (i.e., Total Deaths / Total Cases x 100%). 

•    243,014 tests for COVID-19 completed as of end of day on May 8, 2021. Note: this includes preliminary counts of 

tests completed in the previous 6 days. 

○    The testing rate is 122,208 tests per 100,000 population. 

○    The percent of tests that are positive is 0.9%. (i.e., Total Positive Tests / Total Tests x 100%). Note: an 

individual may have more than one test completed. 

Of the cases: 

•    1,934 cases (96.2%) are resolved, and there are 77 active cases (3.8%). 

•    792 cases (39.4%) were female. Note: Sex is not specified for cases 19 aged years and under. 

•    1,121 cases (55.7%) were less than 40 years of age. Note: Data on sex and age groups are updated when there are 

sufficient data to ensure individual cases cannot be identified. 

•    291 cases (14.5%) had no known epidemiological link (unknown exposure). 

 

•    There have been 40 outbreaks declared in local long-term care homes, retirement homes and other community 

congregate settings. 

•    There have been 20 outbreaks declared in local schools and licensed daycares. 

  



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 2 of 11 

Epidemiology – Sudbury and Districts 

Total cases as of May 09, 2021 at 4:00 PM: 2,011 Cases 

Cases over time 

Note: External data sources may have slight delays in capturing locally reported cases. 
 

FIGURE 1. Confirmed cases, by date of reporting, Sudbury and districts

 
Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 
confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 
*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 

FIGURE 2. Confirmed cases, by date of symptom onset, Sudbury and districts

Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 
confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 
*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 3 of 11 

FIGURE 3. Cumulative confirmed cases, by date of reporting, Sudbury and districts

Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 
confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 
*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 

FIGURE 4. Cumulative confirmed cases, by date of symptom onset, Sudbury and districts

Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 
confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 
*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 
  



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 4 of 11 

Case Characteristics 

TABLE 1. Number and Percentage of Cases, by Various Characteristics 

Characteristic Cases - 
Total 

Percentage (%) Cases - Past 
week 

Percentage (%) 

Numbers of Cases 2,011 100% 51 100% 

Change from previous report 24 1.2%* -15 -22.7%* 

Cases testing positive for a variant of concern (VOC) 850 42.3% 25 49.0% 

Sex: Male 752 37.4% 21 41.2% 

Sex: Female 792 39.4% 18 35.3% 

Sex: Not specified** 467 23.2% 12 23.5% 

Ages: 19 and under 467 23.2% 12 23.5% 

Ages: 20-39 654 32.5% 17 33.3% 

Ages: 40-59 512 25.5% 17 33.3% 

Ages: 60-79 287 14.3% 4 7.8% 

Ages: 80 and over 91 4.5% 1 2.0% 

Ages: Not specified** 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 

Area: Greater Sudbury 1,887 93.8% 44 86.3% 

Area: Manitoulin District 39 1.9% 1 2.0% 

Area: Sudbury District, North 3 0.1% 0 0.0% 

Area: Sudbury District, West 50 2.5% 6 11.8% 

Area: Sudbury District, East 32 1.6% 0 0.0% 

Data source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts 
*Percent change represents the degree of change over time, calculated: (New-Original)/Original 
**Data on sex and age groups are listed as unspecified until there are sufficient numbers to allow them to be assigned to the appropriate categories. 
This ensures that individual cases cannot be identified. Sex is not specified for cases aged 19 years and under. 

 

Case Outcome 

TABLE 2. Case outcomes, by geographic area 

Geographic Area Total 
Cases 

Resolved 
Cases 

Percent 
Resolved 

Active 
Cases 

Percent 
Active 

Deaths Case Fatality 
Rate (CFR) 

Sudbury and districts                2,011 1,934 96.2% 77 3.8% 28 1.4% 

Ontario 495,019 463,028 93.5% 31,991 6.5% 8,327 1.7% 

Data Source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts and Ontario MOH COVID-19 Update 

 

  



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 5 of 11 

Probable Exposure 

Note: Exposure categories have been revised to better align with categories reported provincially. 

TABLE 3. Cases, by probable exposure, Sudbury and districts 

Exposure Cases - 
Total 

Percentage 
(%) 

Cases - Past 
week 

Percentage 
(%) 

Outbreak-associated 490 24.4% 3 5.9% 

Close contact of a confirmed case 1,154 57.4% 38 74.5% 

Travel-related 75 3.7% 2 3.9% 

No known epidemiological link (unknown exposure) 291 14.5% 7 13.7% 

Under investigation 1 0.0% 1 2.0% 

Data Source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts 

 

FIGURE 5. Cases, by date of reporting and probable exposure, Sudbury and districts

 
Data source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts  

FIGURE 6. Cumulative cases, by date of reporting and probable exposure, Sudbury and districts

 
Data source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts  



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 6 of 11 

Testing 

Total number of tests for COVID-19 as of end of day on May 8, 2021: 243,014 tests (this includes preliminary counts of tests 
completed in the previous 6 days.) 

Data includes testing from community assessment centres and other health care settings, as well as targeted surveillance 
initiatives, such as in long-term care homes. 

FIGURE 7. Number of tests and people tested in Sudbury and districts, March 1, 2020 to May 8, 2021

 
Data source: COVID-19 Testing Report (SAS Visual Analytics), Ministry of Health, May 10, 2021 

*** Preliminary data 

FIGURE 8. Cumulative number of tests and people tested in Sudbury and districts, March 1, 2020 to May 8, 2021

 
Data source: COVID-19 Testing Report (SAS Visual Analytics), Ministry of Health, May 10, 2021 

*** Preliminary data 

  



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 7 of 11 

Outbreaks in Facilities 

As per the most recent provincial directives, outbreaks of COVID-19 are not automatically declared in long-term care homes 
and other congregate settings with the confirmation of one case. Public Health assesses each unique situation in 
determining if an outbreak should be declared, including, for example, occupation, exposures in the home, symptoms of the 
case, specific risk factors, and local epidemiology.  

•    In total there have been 40 COVID-19 outbreaks in area facilities.  

•    Of the declared outbreaks, 3 are currently active, and 37 have been declared over. 

 

•    The table, below, provides a summary of outbreaks that have been active within the past 7 days. 

 

TABLE 4. Summary of recent outbreaks in facilities, Sudbury and districts 

Name of Facility Facility Type Units Affected Date Active Date Declared Over 

Health Sciences North Hospital Fourth floor South April 23 - 

Sudbury Jail Congregate setting Entire Facility April 29 - 

Health Sciences North Hospital Sixth floor South May 4 - 

Data Source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts 

 

  



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 8 of 11 

Outbreaks in Schools and Licensed Daycares 

An outbreak in a school or daycare will be declared if there are two or more cases of COVID-19 in a 14-day period that have 
some link with each other, and with evidence that infection occurred at the school. 

•    In total there have been 20 COVID-19 outbreaks in area schools and licensed daycares. 

•    All outbreaks have now been declared over. 

 

•    The table, below, provides a summary of outbreaks that have been active within the past 7 days. 

 

TABLE 5. Summary of recent outbreaks in schools and licensed daycares, Sudbury and districts 

 

There have been no active outbreaks in the past 7 days. 

Data Source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts 

 

  



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 9 of 11 

Regional Context 

FIGURE 9. Confirmed cases, by date of reporting, Sudbury and districts and Northeastern Ontario

Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 
confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 
*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 
 

 
FIGURE 10. Confirmed cases, by date of reporting, Ontario

 
Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 

confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 

*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 10 of 11 

FIGURE 11. Cumulative confirmed cases, by date of reporting, Sudbury and districts and Northeastern Ontario

 
Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 

confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 

*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 

 

 

FIGURE 12. Cumulative confirmed cases, by date of reporting, Ontario

 
Data Source: Ontario Treasury Board Secretariat, Data Catalogue, Confirmed positive cases of COVID-19 in Ontario. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/ 

confirmed-positive-cases-of-covid-19-in-ontario (Access Date: May 10, 2021) 

*** Illnesses occurring during this period may not yet be reported 



Public Health Sudbury & Districts COVID-19 Epidemiology Update Page 11 of 11 

TABLE 6. Regional COVID-19 case summary 

Geographic Area Cases 
Cumulative 

incidence per 
100,000* 

Active 
Cases 

Prevalence per 
100,000** 

Resolved 
Cases 

Resolved 
Rate 

Deceased 
Case 

Fatality 
Rate 

Data 
Availability† 

Canada 1,286,666 3,422.9 80,789 214.9 1,205,877 93.7% 24,626 1.9% May 9 

Ontario 495,019 3,376.6 31,991 218.2 463,028 93.5% 8,327 1.7% May 9 

Northern Ontario 7,725 969.4 383 48.1 7,342 95.0% 133 1.7% May 7 

Northeastern 
Ontario 

3,603 644.1 275 49.2 3,328 92.4% 64 1.8% May 7 

Public Health 
Sudbury & Districts 

2,011 1,011.3 77 38.7 1,934 96.2% 28 1.4% May 9 

Data source: Statistics Canada, Government of Canada COVID-19 Update, Ontario MOH COVID-19 Update, integrated Public Health Information System (iPHIS) database, Northwestern Health Unit, 
Thunder Bay District Health Unit, Algoma Public Health, North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit, Public Health Sudbury & Districts, Porcupine Health Unit, Timiskaming Health Unit. 
* Cumulative incidence is the rate at which new cases have occurred since the beginning of the pandemic.  ** Prevalence is the current rate of active (unresolved) cases in the population 
† This report is based on the most currently available information at date and time of production. 

 

TABLE 7. Regional COVID-19 testing summary 

Geographic Area 
Tests 

Completed 
Tests per 
100,000 

% Tests that were 
Positive* 

People 
Tested 

People Tested 
per 100,000 

% People Tested who 
were Positive** 

Data 
Availability† 

Canada 32,642,733 86,840 Not Available Not Available Not Available Not Available May 9 

Ontario 12,809,969 87,379 3.8% 5,059,966 34,515 9.8% May 8 

Northern Ontario 883,807 110,904 0.9% 290,367 36,437 2.7% May 8 

Northeastern Ontario 612,726 109,531 0.7% 197,237 35,258 1.8% May 8 

Public Health Sudbury 
& Districts 

243,014 122,208 0.9% 79,430 39,944 2.5% May 8 

Data source: Statistics Canada, Government of Canada COVID-19 Update; COVID-19 Testing Report (SAS Visual Analytics), Ontario Ministry of Health, May 10, 2021 
* This is calculated using the following formula: Total Positive Tests / Total Tests x 100%. Note: an individual person may be tested on multiple difference occasions. Samples collected on each such 
occasion may undergo multiple tests, and thus may yield multiple positive tests.  The number of positive tests will therefore exceed the number of confirmed cases within an area. 
** This is calculated using the following formula: Total Confirmed Cases / Total People Tested x 100% 
† This report is based on the most currently available information at date and time of production. 

 

























THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 
 

BY-LAW 2021-20 
 

Being a by-law to amend By-law 2021-08, being a by-law to update employee salary ranges  
 

 
Whereas Council for the Corporation of the Township of Billings deems it necessary to amend 
by-law 2021-08, being a by-law to update employee salary ranges. 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That Schedule A be amended to include the Museum Curator being the same as the 
Marina Manager. 

 
 
 
Read a first time, second, third time and enacted this 17th day of May 2021. 

 
 
 
__________________________     _________________________ 
Ian Anderson, Mayor      Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk  
 



Position Range Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6
CAO/Clerk $62,172 - $82,675 Salary $62,172 $66,554 $70,938 $75,321 $79,703 $82,675  
Treasurer $52,961 - $67,352 Salary $52,961 $55,840 $58,717 $61,596 $64,474 $67,352

Deputy Clerk/Finance Assistant  $47,602 - $55,504 Salary $47,602 $49,290 $50,843 $52,398 $53,951 $55,504
Economic Development Officer  $47,193 - $62,924 Salary $47,193 $50,339 $53,485 $56,631 $59,778 $62,924  

Administrative Assistant $34,744 - $42,257 Salary $34,744 $36,705 $38,094 $39,481 $40,870 $42,257
Financial Assistant $20.58 - $27.27 Hourly $20.58 $21.92 $23.25 $24.59 $25.92 $27.27

Public Works Superintendent $54,341- $66,240 Salary $54,341 $56,720 $59,975 $62,354 $64,734 $66,240
Public Works First Operator $47,677 - $59,912 Salary $47,677 $49,168 $51,614 $54,061 $56,509 $59,912

Public Works Operator $39,301 - $48,215 Salary $39,301 $41,599 $43,382 $45,165 $46,947 $48,215
Landfill Attendant $17.01 - $20.15 Hourly $17.01 $17.64 $18.27 $18.89 $20.03 $20.15  

Casual Labour $16.42 - $20.02 Hourly $16.42 $17.15 $17.86 $18.58 $19.30 $20.02
By-Law Enforcement $18.03 - $22.41 Hourly $18.03 $18.91 $19.78 $20.66 $21.53 $22.41  

Custodian   $15.20 - $17.69 Hourly $15.20 $15.70 $16.19 $16.70 $17.19 $17.69
Marina Manager $18.97 - $22.41 Hourly $18.97 $19.66 $20.35 $21.04 $21.72 $22.41
Museum Curator $18.97 - $22.41 Hourly $18.97 $19.66 $20.35 $21.04 $21.72 $22.41

Position Hourly Rate
Lead Marina Attendant Minimum wage + $1.00

Marina Attendant Minimum wage  
Swim Instructor Minimum wage + $2.00
Swim Assistant Minimum wage  
Public Works Minimum wage  

01-Jan-21  

The Corporation of the Township of Billings
By-law 2021-08

Schedule "A"

Employee Salary Grid*

Student Salary Grid



































1

Tiana Mills

To: Kathy McDonald
Subject: RE: Letter to Mayor and Council re: Storage container bylaw exemption

From: colen@rogers.com <colen@rogers.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, May 11, 2021 11:07 AM 
To: Kathy McDonald <kmcdonald@billingstwp.ca> 
Cc: Ian Anderson <mayoranderson@billingstwp.ca> 
Subject: Letter to Mayor and Council re: Storage container bylaw exemption 
 
               To: Mayor and Council                                                                              Date: May 11, 2021 
 
               From: Colen McKeever 
 
               Dear, Mayor and Council 
 
               As you probably know we have sold the Carter House and have moved to 204 Main St. and require storage for 
our antique shop and personal items. I am asking for an exemption to the bylaw regarding storage containers in Billings 
so I can solve this issue. My plan is to locate it on our 11 Upper Street property behind the white garage where it would 
be out of site from cars driving by. With the high costs of building materials and labor it is not option for me to build a 
structure at this time. Also the negative attitude regarding containers has changed and is being accepted by cities and 
communities as an alternative to high cost building options for use as coffee shops, vendor outlets and alternative living 
space. The boardwalk in Montreal and the complex in Tofino BC are great examples of future opportunities for 
Kagawong considering the limited space in the village. Thank you for your consideration and response as I am in a time 
crunch for a solution to my problem. 
 
Regards, 
 
Colen McKeever 



 



1

Tiana Mills

From: noreply@mail.smapply.net

Sent: May 11, 2021 4:35 PM

To: Tiana Mills

Subject: Update from the Healthy Communities Initiative | Mise à jour du Initiative canadienne 

pour des collectivités en santé

CFC Portal / Portail de FCC 

le français suit 

Hello Tiana, 

Thank you for taking time to submit an application for the 
Healthy Communities Initiative. 

We know the impact of COVID-19 is significant and the needs of 
communities are great. The Healthy Communities Initiative 
generated significant interest across the country and the first 
round of the Healthy Communities Initiative was highly 
competitive. As communities continue to see the impact of the 
pandemic, we received over $300M in funding requests for 
Round 1. 

The review team received a high volume of applications in your 
region and the selection process was highly competitive. 
Unfortunately, your application for Kagawong Outdoor Multi-
Purpose Facility has not been approved for funding. For your 
reference, your application is 1--0000001097. 

Community Foundations of Canada and community foundations 
were unable to fund all eligible applications, given that funding is 
limited. Community foundations and Community Foundations of 
Canada made funding decisions based on the relative strength 
of all applications received according to the program-wide 
evaluation criteria. 



2

We invite you to apply to Round 2. Applications for Round 2 open 
on May 14, 2021 at 9:00 AST. 

Our partner, Canadian Urban Institute, also invites you to join 
their national network of creative leaders, community-builders 
and placemakers. The Canadian Urban Institute supports 
Canadian communities and community groups by sharing best 
practices, building communities of practice, and helping 
organizations build their capacity. Learn about funding 
opportunities, resources, and innovative place-based work. Join 
the network here. 

Thank you, 

Support Team 
Healthy Communities Initiative 
chci@communityfoundations.ca 

 

Bonjour Tiana, 

Merci d’avoir déposé une demande à l’Initiative pour des 
collectivités en santé. 

Nous savons que la COVID-19 a des impacts importants, et que 
les besoins des collectivités sont grands. L’Initiative pour des 
collectivités en santé a suscité beaucoup d’intérêt au pays et le 
premier cycle de cette initiative a été très compétitif. Alors que 
les collectivités continuent de constater les conséquences de la 
pandémie, nous avons reçu des demandes de financement 
totalisant plus de 300 M$ pour le cycle 1. 

L’équipe d’évaluation a reçu un volume élevé de demandes en 
provenance de votre région, et le processus de sélection a été 
très compétitif. Malheureusement, votre demande de 
financement pour Kagawong Outdoor Multi-Purpose Facility n’a 



3

pas été approuvée. À titre de référence, l’identifiant de votre 
demande est 1--0000001097. 

Fondations communautaires du Canada et les fondations 
communautaires n’ont pas été en mesure de financer toutes les 
demandes de projet admissibles, car le financement est limité. 
Les fondations communautaires et Fondations communautaires 
du Canada ont pris les décisions de financement en se basant 
sur la force relative de toutes les demandes reçues, et en 
respectant les critères d’évaluation pour tout le programme. 

Nous vous invitons à déposer une demande au cycle 2. La 
période de soumission des demandes au cycle 2 débutera le 14 
mai 2021, à 9 h (HAA). 

Notre partenaire, l’Institut urbain du Canada, vous invite 
également à vous joindre à son réseau national de leaders, 
bâtisseurs communautaires et professionnels de 
l’aménagement (« placemakers ») créatifs. L’Institut urbain du 
Canada aide les collectivités et les groupes communautaires au 
pays en partageant des pratiques exemplaires, en formant des 
communautés d’échange de pratiques et en renforçant les 
capacités organisationnelles. Découvrez ses possibilités de 
financement, ses ressources et son travail novateur, ancré dans 
la cocréation. Joignez-vous au réseau ici. 

Merci, 

Équipe de soutien 
Initiative pour des collectivités en santé 
chci@communityfoundations.ca 

 

You are receiving this email from CFC Portal / Portail de FCC.  

Unsubscribe | Terms | Privacy  

powered by  
To help protect your privacy, Microsoft Office prevented automatic download 
of this picture from the Internet.
SurveyMonkey Apply

 
  

 



1

Tiana Mills

To: Kathy McDonald
Subject: RE: 2021 Senior of the Year Award / Prix de la personne âgée de l’année de l’Ontario 

2021

From: Ontario Volunteer Service Awards (MHSTCI) <OntarioVolunteerServiceAwards@ontario.ca>  
Sent: Wednesday, May 12, 2021 1:29 PM 
To: Ontario Volunteer Service Awards (MHSTCI) <OntarioVolunteerServiceAwards@ontario.ca> 
Subject: 2021 Senior of the Year Award / Prix de la personne âgée de l’année de l’Ontario 2021 
 
 
Dear Mayor, Reeve and Members of Council: 
 
I am writing to invite you to submit a nomination for the 2021 Senior of the Year Award.  
 
Our seniors have worked hard to help to build this great province that all Ontarians enjoy today. This 
award gives each municipality in Ontario the opportunity to honour one of their outstanding local 
seniors and the contributions they’ve made to enrich the social, cultural, or civic life of their 
community.  
 
This year, the nomination deadline has been extended to May 31, 2021.  
 
For more information and to download the nomination form, please visit the Senior of the Year 
webpage. Once you submit a nomination, a personalized certificate with your nominee’s name will be 
sent to you. I encourage you to present it to your nominee in June in conjunction with Seniors’ 
Month.    
 
I would also encourage you to promote Seniors Month in your community, as much as possible. This 
year’s theme is Stay Safe, Active and Connected. For more information, keep checking the Seniors’ 
Month webpage: Celebrating seniors in Ontario. 
 
The government of Ontario is proud to work with municipalities on this initiative. Seniors have 
generously offered their time, knowledge and expertise to make this province a great place to live, 
and it is important we recognize those valuable contributions.   
 
If you have any questions about the 2021 Senior of the Year Award, please contact the Volunteer 
Recognition Unit at OntarioVolunteerServiceAwards@ontario.ca.  
 
Thank you in advance for your support of local seniors and Seniors’ Month. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
(Original signed by) 

Raymond Cho  
Minister for Seniors and Accessibility 



 

 

Ministry for  
Seniors  
and Accessibility 
 
Minister 
 
College Park 
777 Bay Street 
5th Floor 
Toronto ON M7A 1S5 

Ministère des Services
aux aînés et de

 

Ministre 

College Park 
777, rue Bay 
5e étage 
Toronto (Ontario)  M7A 1S5 

 

 
May 7, 2021 
 
Dear Mayor, Reeve and Members of Council: 
 
I am writing to invite you to submit a nomination for the 2021 Senior of the Year Award.  
 
Our seniors have worked hard to help to build this great province that all Ontarians 
enjoy today. This award gives each municipality in Ontario the opportunity to honour 
one of their outstanding local senior enrich the 
social, cultural, or civic life of their community.  
 
This year, the nomination deadline has been extended to May 31, 2021.  
 
For more information and to download the nomination form, please visit the Senior of 
the Year webpage. Once you submit a nomination, a personalized certificate with your 

sent to you. I encourage you to present it to your nominee in 
June in conjunction with .    
 
I would also encourage you to promote Seniors Month in your community, as much as 
possible.  theme is Stay Safe, Active and Connected. For more information, 
keep checking the : Celebrating seniors in Ontario, 
 
The government of Ontario is proud to work with municipalities on this initiative. Seniors 
have generously offered their time, knowledge and expertise to make this province a 
great place to live, and it is important we recognize those valuable contributions.   
 
If you have any questions about the 2021 Senior of the Year Award, please contact the 
Volunteer Recognition team at OntarioVolunteerServiceAwards@ontario.ca.  
 
Thank you in advance for your support . 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Raymond Cho  
Minister for Seniors and Accessibility 



TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 
Economic Development Committee 

MINUTES 
April 14, 2020, 7:00 pm                                       Electronic Meeting (Zoom Meetings) 

PRESENT: Mayor Ian Anderson, Councillor Sharon Alkenbrack (Chair), Suzanne Darlaston, Councillor Sharon 
Jackson, Diane Larocque 
Staff: Megan Bonenfant, CEMC; Todd Gordon, Economic Development Officer 

REGRETS: Tracy Paris 
Members of the Public: Susie Harrison, invited business speaker 
 

1. Opening of Meeting  
The meeting was called to order at 7:03 p.m. by the chair. 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 
Motion by Diane Larocque; Second by Suzanne Darlaston: 
That the agenda for the March 10, 2021 meeting be accepted as amended – Items added to New 
Business: c) Community Business Guest Speaker and d) Kagawong Cabanas. Carried. 

 

3. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest  
None 
 

4. Adoption of Minutes 
Motion by Sharon Jackson; Second by Diane Larocque: 
That the minutes of the February 10, 2021 meeting be accepted as presented. Carried. 

 

5. Delegations 
None 

 

6. Council Update Report 
Chair Alkenbrack provided a brief overview of the previous Council meeting (Regular Council meeting of 
April 06, 2021). 

 

7. Financial Report 
No EDC-related revenue or expenditures since the previous meeting (March 10, 2021). 

 

8. EDO Update 
The EDO provided updates on the following topics 

a. Main Street Project 

b. Kagawong River Pedestrian Bridge - Engineering 

c. Maze Parking Lot 
 

9. Old Business 
a) Community Planters/Benches – Discussion 
Many of the new planters/benches have been put into place by Public Works. More will be placed on the 
East side of the SCB once smelt season ends. All will be filled with soil later in the spring. The Deputy Clerk 
(Tiana) is liaison with the “Late Bloomers” group, and she is researching annual shrubs to supplement 
flowers for the boxes. EDC would like to look after 5 planters if possible. The Parks, Recreation, and 
Wellness Committee is also interested in taking on planters if any are available. Tiana will communicate 
with them 
 

b) Billings Promotion Strategy – Discussion 
Brief discussion. The EDO is expecting a draft from Kendra Edwards after April 15th. 
 

c) Poetry Boxes - Discussion 



2 
 

The committee had further discussion on the type of replacement boxes to purchase. The boxes need to 
be big enough to hold paper, finished poems, and pens/pencils, but also be as weatherproof as possible. 
The Chair suggested a specific larger box for the art box – like a small winter sand/salt box. Discussion of 
trying to buy local as opposed to ordering something; also, the pros/cons of different materials. Discussion 
of relocating the Park Centre poetry box to the game board area and putting the art box there as well. Given 
the discussion the Chair is to do some more research and come back to the committee with a firm 
recommendation for purchasing appropriate items. 

 

d) Social Media Workshop and Jabbawong Story-Telling Festival – Discussion 
 

i. Social Media Workshop 
Off the table for 2021. The committee will reconsider the idea later this year for implementation in 
winter/spring 2022. 
 

ii. Jabbawong Story-Telling Festival 
The committee is committed to holding the festival this year, if possible. If necessary, the festival can be a 
completely outdoor event, with appropriate pandemic protocols in place. The festival days/times will be 
Saturday July 17th, 11 am to 2:00 pm, and Sunday July 18th, 11:00 am to 2:00 pm. Sunday will have a 
children’s story focus. The committee is still working on children’s story presenters. 
 

10. New Business 
a) Invited Guest Business Speaker – Susie Harrison, Bare Naked Beauty 

Susie spoke about her experience in her business through more than a year of pandemic conditions. It was 
very rough in the earliest stage of the pandemic, but things improved somewhat. Despite the pandemic, 
Kagawong was quite busy mid-summer through the fall. Businesses pulled together and made the most of 
a difficult situation. Expectations are for a busy season in 2022 as well. 
 

b) Winter Tourism - Discussion 
Possibility of developing a simple rack card highlighting winter activities in Billings/Kagawong, and 
businesses that are open during all or part of the winter season. More discussion needed, including with 
local businesses, once the summer season is over. 

 

c) Cabanas - Discussion 
The committee asked the EDO about the status of the cabanas for 2021. Whether the cabanas will be rented 
is unclear because of multiple factors, including the ongoing pandemic, and the Main St. reconstruction 
project. Committee consensus is that the cabanas should be rented in 2021, if possible. 

 

d) Economic Development as a Concept - Discussion 
More consideration of ways to create more retail opportunities, particularly in Kagawong, where there is 
opportunity to add to and benefit from existing business activity, but where there is limited 
retail/commercial space. The EDO also discussed the possibility of working with the committee on business 
retention and expansion (BR+E) activities, perhaps during the winter of 2021-2020. 
 

11. Correspondence 
None 

 

12. Information 
None 

 

13. Recommendations to Council 
None 

 

14. Next Meeting: May 12, 2021, 7:00 pm, Zoom Meetings 
 

15. Adjournment: The meeting was adjourned at 8:22 p.m. on a motion by Diane Larocque. 



Billings Museum Committee 
Minutes 

 
May 3, 2021        Electronic Meeting 
 
 
Present: Barb Edwards, Dianne Fraser, Sabine Huege, Michael Hunt (Chair), Brad MacKay, Kathy 
McDonald (staff) and Rick Nelson (staff). 
Regrets: Deb Flaxman and Diane Larocque 
 
1. Open 
 The meeting was called to order at 7:04 p.m. 
 
2. Approval of the Agenda 
 Motion by Sabine Huege, seconded by Barb Edwards 
 That the agenda for the May 3, 2021 meeting be accepted as amended. 
   Carried 
 

The meeting was amended to add under Other an email from Todd Gordon (EDO) regarding the 
flywheel and email from Sharon Alkenbrack regarding an EDO summer project. 

 
3. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest 
 There was no disclosure of pecuniary interest. 
 
4. Adoption of Minutes 
 Motion by Dianne Fraser, seconded by Brad MacKay 
 That the minutes of the April 12, 2021 meeting be accepted as presented. 
   Carried 
 
5. Financial Report 
 Kathy McDonald presented the financial report, with little change since the last meeting. 
 The larger expenses for the Empress of Ireland exhibit will be starting soon. 
  
 Motion by Dianne Fraser, seconded by Sabine Huege 
 That the Financial report be accepted as presented. 
   Carried  
 
6. Old Business 
 
 Museum Opening 

It was decided to do a soft opening of the museum, at this time, and grander one later in the 
season due to the uncertainties with COVID. 
The museum will open on May 22 and will be open weekends only until the first of June. 
The museum will be open in June on Wednesdays to Saturdays until the summer student starts 
and then will be open seven days a week from 10 a.m. to 4 p.m. 
The store has ordered 8 cases of 12 hawberry jelly.  
The taxable items will have the tax built into the price. 
 



Exhibits – Empress of Ireland 
The first truck arrives tomorrow afternoon from the Canadian Museum of History.  
 
Exhibits - Stan Gordon Sr. Display 
The museum has received the items from Nancy Vaillencourt and the setup for the display is 
going well. 
 
Exhibits - War of 1812 Uniform 
The War of 1812 Uniform will be put in one of the display cabinets.  A white shirt is needed to go 
with the uniform. 
 
Donor Wall 
The donor wall was discussed. Dianne made some suggestions regarding the layout of the wall. 
 
Signs 
Signs were discussed. It was decided that a banner could go up on the sign at the corner of Main 
and Hwy 540 until a new sign was made. The sign at Wes Newburn’s as well as the one on the 
highway need to be replaced.  

 
7. New Business 
 Council Developments 
 Councillor Hunt provided a Council update. 
 
 Other 
 Email from Todd Gordon, EDO 

Todd sent an email to Dianne and Rick advising them that staff was requesting Council to issue 
an RFP to have the flywheel in front of the office painted. 
 
Email from Sharon Alkenbrack regarding Economic Development Project. The EDC offered the 
Museum Committee to host a barbeque for the July 18,19 Story Telling Festival.  It was decided 
that ordinarily it would be something the Museum Committee would love to participate in but 
this year, with COVID, it would be very hard to keep things disinfected and apply distancing 
rules, so therefore, would not be able to participate this year. 

 
8. Next Meeting 

The next meeting will be held on June 7 at 7 p.m., electronically. 
 
9.  Adjournment 
 The meeting was adjourned at 7:58 on a motion by Diane Fraser. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 




